UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 92-7694
Summary Cal endar

United States of Anerica,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS
Andres Rodriguez and

Ant hony De Ponce,

Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas
(CR-B-92-54(03)(04))

(January 4 _1994)
Bef ore THORNBERRY, HI G3 NBOTHAM and BARKSDALE, Circuit Judges.

THORNBERRY, Circuit Judge:”

Ant hony De Ponce was convicted on four drug counts: two counts
of conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute marihuana in
violation of 21 US C 88 841(a)(1l), 846 and two counts of
possession of mari huana with intent to distribute in violation of

21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(B), 18 U.S.C. §8 2. Andres Rodriguez

“Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needless
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



was convicted on two drug counts: one count of conspiracy to
possess with intent to distribute marihuana in violation of 21
US C 88 841(a)(1l), 846 and one count of possession of marihuana
wth intent to distribute in violation of 21 U S. C § 841(a)(1),
(b)(1)(B), 18 U.S.C. 8 2. Appellant De Ponce argues that his
convictions on the two conspiracy counts and on two substantive
counts violate the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Anendnent;
that the district court inproperly admtted hearsay testinony; and
that the district court's finding that he was an organi zer or
| eader of the crimnal activity is clearly erroneous. Both
appel l ants argue that there is insufficient evidence to support
their convictions. W find nerit in only De Ponce's first
contention challenging his conviction of two conspiracies and
therefore remand for correction of De Ponce's sentence based on
only one conspiracy. O herwi se, we affirm the convictions and
sentences of both appellants.
Facts and Prior Proceedi ngs

To anal yze appellants' clains of insufficient evidence, it is
necessary to review the facts leading to their arrest. De Ponce
approached a paid informant working with the United States Custons
Servi ce between June 1990 and Novenber 1990 in Brownsville, Texas
to participate in the transportation of cocaine to New York. De
Ponce sought to recruit the informant because the informant drove
arefrigerated truck and frequently haul ed peri shabl e f oods t hrough
border patrol checkpoints in South Texas. The i nformant

i mredi ately notified agents with the Custons Service. De Ponce did



not immediately pursue delivery of the cocaine, but told the
informant to keep in touch with him while he organized the
smuggl i ng operation.

In February 1991, Luis Garza and Carnel o Cavazos approached
the informant on De Ponce's behal f to haul 500 pounds of mari huana
to Mam, Florida.! The trio drove to De Ponce's pl ace of business
and Cavazos nmet with De Ponce while the informant and Garza
remained in the vehicle. Several other organizational neetings
were held between March 1991 and Septenber 1991. On Cctober 14,
1991, the informant, Garza and Luis Arispe obtained a | oad of 446
pounds of marihuana from a "stash" house and brought it to a
| ocati on where undercover officer Ernie Espindola was waiting
O ficer Espindola had been introduced as the informant's driving
partner. Al of the nmen then | oaded the mari huana in the Custons
Service-supplied tractor-trailer. On October 16, the infornmant
and O ficer Espindola departed for Mam . Upon arrival in Mam,
the i nformant phoned a nunber supplied by Cavazos. The tel ephone
nunber was for a portable phone rented by Yolanda Cuni at De
Ponce's request.? The informant spoke to appel |l ant Rodriguez. The
next day, Rodriguez and Cavazos net the undercover officer and the

informant and led them to the house where the narihuana was

! Cavazos told the informant that De Ponce had drug
conspirator contacts in Mam. According to Cavazos, this
mar i huana was to be delivered and sold to an attorney in Mam.

2 Phone tolls from De Ponce's phone to several nenbers of the
conspiracy substantiated that De Ponce was in conmunication with
his co-conspirators in Florida, including appellant Rodriguez and
the stash houses in Florida and Brownsville.
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unl oaded by Rodriguez, the undercover officer and three ot her nen.
The officer and the informant returned to their hotel roomto await
further instructions.

Later, a search warrant was executed on the premses in
Fl ori da where t he mari huana was unl oaded. Law enforcenent officers
seized 446 pounds of nmarihuana. Appel l ant  Rodriguez was
apprehended at the scene, and he confessed that the mari huana had
been transported to Mam from Texas.?

On Novenber 25, 1991, Cavazos and Garza net with the informant
at a car wash in Browsville, and told himthat the second | oad of
mar i huana was ready for transportation that evening. Cavazos al so
told the informant that he would soon receive paynent for the
delivery of the first |oad. Cavazos and Garza left the carwash and
drove to the same stash house. De Ponce's Ford Bronco was observed
in the driveway. The next day, the informant, Garza and Cavazos
attenpted to transport the mari huana to the 18-wheel er, but custons
agents stopped them and seized the second |oad of 587 pounds of
mar i huana.

Appel I ant Rodriguez was charged with one count of conspiracy
to possess marihuana with intent to distribute and one count of
possession of marihuana with intent to deliver and aiding and

abetting in the possession of mari huana with intent to deliver. He

® A Florida Sheriff's Deputy testified that he stopped a
vehicle driven by Rodriguez prior to the execution of the search
warrant and that Rodriguez was in the conpany of Basulto and
Cavazos. The officer also recalled that Basulto and Cavazos had
airline tickets indicating that they flew fromHarlingen to M am
on Cctober 17, 1991.



was convicted of both counts and sentenced to concurrent terns of
60 nonths inprisonnent on each count, five years supervised
rel ease, and a $100 speci al assessnent.

De Ponce was charged with two counts of conspiracy to possesss
mari huana with intent to deliver (counts 1, 3) and two counts of
possession of marihuana with intent to deliver and aiding and
abetting the possession of mari huana with intent to deliver (counts
2, 4). He was convicted on all four counts. The probation officer
recommended increasing De Ponce's base offense |evel four |evels
because he was an organi zer or |eader of the crimnal activity.
The district court overruled De Ponce's objection to this
adj ustnent and sentenced him to concurrent ternms of 121 nonths
i nprisonment and five years supervised rel ease on each count, a
$17,500 fine, and a $200 speci al assessnent.* Both Rodriguez and
De Ponce tinely appeal to this Court.

Di scussi on
| . Double Jeopardy C ains
A.  Conspiracy Counts
De Ponce argues that the nultiple convictions on counts one
and three violate the Double Jeopardy C ause because the proof

adduced at trial established only one conspiracy.?® Count one

4 Specifically, De Ponce was specially assessed $50 per count
as required by | aw

5> Although the indictnent contained nultiple conspiracy
counts, De Ponce has never conpl ai ned about the indictnent. This
is of no nonent as a crimnal defendant may conplain of
nonconcurrent nultiple sentences on appeal despite a failure to
conplain of the multiple indictnents. United States v. Berry, 977
F.2d 915, 920 (5th Cr. 1992). A sentence is not concurrent if
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charged Cavazos, Basulto, Rodriguez, De Ponce, and Fructoso Garza
W th conspiracy to possess mari huana with intent to distribute from
Cctober 14 through 18, 1991. Count three charged Cavazos, De
Ponce, and Fructoso Garza with conspiracy to possess mari huana with
intent to distribute from Novenber 1 through 25, 1991.

De Ponce rai sed the double jeopardy issue in his objections to
the PSI. The issue was also raised by the trial court at the close
of the CGovernnent's case, and the Governnment conceded that the
evi dence coul d be viewed as proving a single conspiracy. The trial
court submted the two conspiracy charges to the jury but indicated
that the issue of nultiple conspiracies could be resolved at
sentenci ng. The sentencing judge, however, was not the sane trial
j udge, and al t hough De Ponce urged the dism ssal of one of the two
conspiracy counts at sentencing, the request for relief was
deni ed. ©

To support separate conspiracy convictions the Governnent nust

prove separate agreenents. United States v. Bazan, 807 F.2d 1200,

multiple mandatory special assessnents are inposed for each
conviction. Id. De Ponce's sentences were not concurrent because
he received a mandatory $50 assessnment for each count in the
i ndictnment for which he received conviction. Therefore, he nmay
raise this claimon appeal

6 Specifically, defense counsel called the court's attention
to the Bazan case, cited herein. Def ense counsel rem nded the
sentencing judge that the Bazan case arose out of his court and
that the Fifth Grcuit, "...sent it back to you....It is ny
contention that the |law as set out in the case of United States v.
Bazan...that | just called the court's attention to woul d prohibit
the <court in the double jeopardy <clause of the Fifth
Amendnent ... fromsentenci ng on both counts.” The sentencing judge
di sagr eed. "[S]ince they adopted the sentencing guidelines,
everything is taken together. And | don't renenber the case
because basically | was affirned."
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1206 (5th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 481 U.S. 1038 (1987). To
determ ne whether nore than one agreenent exists, this Court
consi ders:

1) [t]he time period alleged, 2) [t]he co-conspirators

involved, 3) [t]he statutory offenses charged, 4) the

overt acts or description of the offense charged which

i ndi cates the nature and scope of the activity which the

Governnent alleged was illegal, and 5) the |ocation of

the events which allegedly took place.
United States v. Rena, 981 F.2d 765, 770 (5th G r. 1993) (internal
citations omtted). As the Governnent readily concedes, the
evi dence establishes only one conspiracy. Both conspiracy counts
involve a core group of individuals who agreed to transport
mar i huana between Texas and Fl ori da. Therefore, we reverse De
Ponce' s convi ctions on counts one and three and remand this case to
the district court to enter judgnment of conviction for only one
conspi racy and accordingly, for resentencing. See United States v.
Rena, 981 F.2d 765, 770 (5th GCr. 1993) (one agreenent to
conspire); United States v. Bryan, 896 F.2d 68, 71 (5th Cr.),
cert. denied, 498 U. S. 847 (1990) (one agreenent to conspire);
Bazan, 807 F.2d at 1206 (no separate agreenent proven).

B. Substantive Counts

De Ponce argues that his convictions on the two substantive
counts also violate double jeopardy. Count two charged De Ponce
W th possession of 207.1 kilogranms of marihuana with intent to
distribute on Cctober 18, 1991, and count four charged him w th

possessi on of 267 kilograns of mari huana with intent to distribute

on Novenber 26, 1991. De Ponce's argunent is without nerit.



The Double Jeopardy C ause protects against nultiple
puni shments for the sanme offense. Berry, 977 F.2d at 918. De
Ponce, however, participated in two separate crimnal acts. Count
two involves the first load of 446 pounds of marihuana which
reached Mam . Count four involves the second | oad of 587 pounds
of mari huana whi ch was confiscated en route to the delivery vehicle
in Texas. Therefore, the Double Jeopardy C ause is not inplicated
on the substantive counts. Berry, 977 F.2d at 920 (multiple
convi ctions and sentences for firearns obtained at different tines

and stored in different |ocations do not violate doubl e jeopardy).

1. Sufficiency of the Evidence

Bot h Rodri guez and De Ponce argue that there is insufficient
evi dence to support their convictions. Although Rodriguez and De
Ponce nmade notions for acquittal at the close of the prosecution's
evi dence, neither renewed their notions at the close of all of the
evidence. Therefore, the sufficiency argunents are revi ewabl e only
to determ ne whether there was a mani fest m scarriage of justice.
United States v. Shaw, 920 F.2d 1225, 1230 (5th Cr.), cert.
denied, 111 S.C. 2038 (1991). A mscarriage of justice exists if
the record is "devoid of evidence pointing to quilt." United
States v. Ruiz, 860 F.2d 615, 617 (5th Gr. 1988) (internal
gquotations and citation omtted).

A.  Rodriguez
Rodri guez argues that there was insufficient evidence to show

that he knew of the conspiracy or voluntarily participated in it.



To establish a drug conspiracy under 21 US C. § 846, the
Gover nnment nust prove the existence of an agreenent to violate the
narcotics laws; the defendant's know edge of the agreenent and
intentionto joinit; and the defendant's voluntary participation.
United States v. Lopez, 979 F.2d 1024, 1029 (5th Cr. 1992), cert.
denied, 113 S.C. 2349 (1993). The jury may infer a conspiracy
agreenent fromcircunstantial evidence and nay rely upon presence
and association, along with other evidence, in finding that a
conspiracy existed. United States v. Rojas-Martinez, 968 F. 2d 415,
421 (5th Gr. 1992). "Concert of action can indicate agreenent and
voluntary participation." Lopez, 979 F.2d at 1029. The evi dence
at trial established that Rodriguez was driving the car rented by
Yol anda Cuni at De Ponce's request when he and Cavazos net the
informant at the Holiday Inn in Mam . The informant and O ficer
Espindola delivered the marihuana to Rodriguez's house and
Rodri guez hel ped themto unload the truck. Rodriguez also admtted
his involvenent in the transaction and told |aw enforcenent
officers that the mari huana cane from Texas. The tel ephone records
showed t hat tel ephone calls were made to and fromRodriguez's M am
residence and the co-conspirators in Texas. This evidence is
sufficient to support his conspiracy conviction.

Rodriguez also argues that his substantive possession
conviction is insufficient because the evidence is uncl ear whether
he actually helped to unload the boxes in Mam or that he knew
t hat the boxes contai ned mari huana. Both the informant and O ficer

Espindola testified that Rodriguez helped to unload the truck.



More inportantly, Rodriguez admtted his involvenent in the
transaction. This argunent is neritless.
B. De Ponce

De Ponce also argues that the evidence is insufficient to
support his conspiracy conviction because there is insufficient
evidence to establish that he knew about the conspiracy or
knowi ngly joined it. He contends that the evidence nerely
established that he associated with individuals involved in the
conspiracy.

The evi dence, however, established that De Ponce was a know ng
participant in the conspiracy. The informant and Cavazos di scussed
a potential drug transaction during a series of neetings between
March and Septenber 1991. During this sane period, Cavazos and
Garza told the informant that F. Garza provided the noney for the
mar i huana and De Ponce provided the clients in Mam to purchase
the mari huana. In the informant's presence, Cavazos inforned De
Ponce in August that everything, neaning the mari huana, was ready
in Mexico. De Ponce had Cuni rent a car wwth a portabl e tel ephone
in Mam on Cctober 17, 1991, and Cuni rented a white Ford Tenpo.’
The portabl e tel ephone that the i nformant cal |l ed when he arrived in

Mam was the tel ephone rented by Cuni, and Rodri guez and Cavazos

" There is no dispute that Cuni rented the car and phone in
Florida. Rental agreenents for both were found show ng Cuni as the
renter. Cuni testified, however that she did not rent the
autonobile in Florida for De Ponce or at his behest, although she
conceded that De Ponce rented a Brownsville apartnent for her. Her
testinony was inpeached by a Custons Agent who related Cuni's
adm ssi on to bei ng asked by De Ponce to rent the autonobile used by
Rodri guez, Basulto and Cavazos in Novenber 1991.
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were driving the rented Tenpo when they picked up the informant at
the Mam Holiday Inn. After the police confiscated the first | oad
of marihuana, De Ponce accused Garza of tipping off the Mam
pol i ce.

Addi tionally, De Ponce rented a house at 304 Pinehurst in the
name of Ana Laura Torres, and his Bronco was seen parked in the
driveway. The day they intended to transport the second | oad of
mar i huana, Cavazos and Garza went to the house at 304 Pinehurst,
when De Ponce's Bronco was parked in the driveway, to get the noney
to pay the informant for hauling the first | oad. De Ponce was
present when Cavazos and Garza got the boxes for the second | oad
and encouraged Cavazos to deliver the second |oad because the
police were getting suspicious. This evidence is sufficient to
support De Ponce's knowng and voluntary participation in the
conspiracy.

Finally, De Ponce argues that the evidence is insufficient to
support his substantive convictions because there was no evi dence
that he had actual or constructive possession of the marihuana.
To establish a violation under 21 US. C 8§ 841(a)(l), the
Gover nnment nust prove know ng possession of mari huana with intent
to distribute. See United States v. WIlians, 985 F.2d 749, 753
(5th Cr.), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 148 (1993). However, Rodriguez
and De Ponce were convicted of aiding and abetting the possession
of the mari huana with intent to distribute, and the district court
gave an ai ding and abetting instruction. To be guilty of aiding and

abetting the possession of the mari huana with intent to distribute,
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the defendants do not have to have actual or constructive
possessi on of the drugs. Rat her, the defendants nerely have to
have associated with and participated with the venture in a way
cal cul ated to bring about the venture's success. 1d. As discussed
above, De Ponce's activities assisted the other co-conspirators in
the possession of the nmarihuana, therefore his substantive

convictions are affirned.

I11. Rolando Vasquez's Testi nony

De Ponce argues that the district court inproperly permtted
O ficer Vasquez to testify that he recognized De Ponce's Bronco
parked at 304 Pinehurst as the sanme Bronco that he had seen in an
unrelated narcotics investigation.® De Ponce argues that this
testimony was not admissible under Fed. R Evid. 404(b).°
Specifically, on direct exam nation by the Governnment, Vasquez
testified that he lived next door to the house that De Ponce had
rented on Pinehurst to serve as the stash house. He testified that

he had seen both De Ponce at the Pinehurst house as well as his

8 OfFficer Vasquez is a police officer who works primarily on
narcotics investigations.

° Rule 404 (b) GOher crimes, wongs, or acts.

Evi dence of other crimes, wongs, or acts is not
adm ssi ble to prove the character of a person in order to
show actionin conformty therewmth. It may, however, be
adm ssi bl e for other purposes, such as proof of notive,
opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, know edge,
identity, or absence of mstake or accident, provided
t hat upon request by the accused, the prosecution in a
crim nal case shall provide reasonabl e notice in advance
of trial, or during trial if the court excuses pretrial
noti ce on good cause shown, of the general nature of any
such evidence it intends to introduce at trial.
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Bronco parked in the driveway. Vasquez testified that on one
occasion, he detected the odor of marihuana emanating from a car
parked in the driveway. On cross-exam nati on, De Ponce's attorney
gquestioned Vasquez's ability to recognize the Bronco as the sane
Bronco seen at the stash house. He responded that the Bronco seen
at the Pinehurst house was the sanme Bronco he saw involved in
anot her narcotics transaction where he ran the plates on a Bronco
that turned out to belong to De Ponce. He testified that he saw
this same Bronco at the stash house. Over objection, on redirect
exam nation, Vasquez was permtted to explain that during this
prior unrelated investigation he was waiting on a street corner
W th a suspected drug deal er when a Bronco passed and the suspect
told him that the driver was the guy with the noney. Vasquez
testified that he ran the plates on the Bronco and that the Bronco
bel onged to De Ponce. On recross-exanm nation Vasquez admtted that
he did not know if De Ponce was driving the Bronco at the tinme or
if he was involved in the prior narcotics transaction.

Arguably, the testinony was not adm ssible under Rul e 404(b)
because the Governnent failed to establish that De Ponce was
involved in the prior crimnal activity. See United States v.
Gonzal ez-Lira, 936 F.2d 184, 189-90 (5th Cr. 1991) (governnent
must provide evidence sufficient to allow jury to find defendant
commtted the act). This Court, however, may reviewthis error for
harm ess error. See United States v. El-Zoubi, 993 F. 2d 442, 446-
447 (5th Cr. 1993).
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To determ ne whether the adm ssion of the evidence was
harm ess, this Court considers the other evidence in the case to
decide if the inadm ssible evidence actually contributed to the
jury's verdict. |d. at 446. The inadm ssible testinmny wll
require reversal only if it had a "substantial inpact" on the
jury's verdict. 1d. (internal citation ommtted). As discussed
above, there was significant evidence connecting De Ponce to the
conspiracy and the possession of marihuana. Addi tionally, the
informant also identified the Bronco as De Ponce's Bronco, and
O ficer Vasquez admtted that there was no evidence that De Ponce
was actually involved in the earlier drug transaction. Any error

was t herefore harnl ess.

V. Role in the Ofense

Finally, De Ponce challenges the district court's finding that
he was an organizer or |eader of the crimnal activity. The
district court's finding that De Ponce had an aggravating role in
the offense is reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard.
United States v. Watson, 988 F. 2d 544, 550 (5th Cr.), petition for
cert. filed, (U S Jul. 29, 1993)(No. 93-5407). A defendant's base
of fense | evel may be increased four levels if the defendant "was an
organizer of a crimnal activity that involved five or nore
participants or was otherw se extensive." US S. G § 3Bl.1(a).

The evi dence established that the crimnal activity invol ved
Garza, Arispe, Cavazos, Basulto, F. Garza, Rodriguez, and De Ponce,

nmore than five participants; that De Ponce arranged for the rental
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car and portable tel ephone in Mam ; that De Ponce arranged for the
buyers in Mam ; that he provided the funds to pay the informnt
for the first load; and that he had Cavazos nove the second | oad
because the police were becom ng suspicious. The district court's

finding is therefore not clearly erroneous.

Concl usi on
Based on the foregoing, we affirmin part and reverse and
remand in part. As to Anthony De Ponce, this case is remanded for
the district court to correct De Ponce's sentence consistent with

t hi s opinion.

AFFI RVED | N PART,;
REVERSED AND REMANDED | N PART.
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